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    Foreword


    The Holocaust has never been so widely researched and discussed as it is today. Each year on 27 January an International Holocaust Remembrance Day is commemorated throughout the world. The focus of Holocaust ceremonies is the infamous Auschwitz-Birkenau concentration and extermination camp in Poland where an estimated 960,000 Jews were killed. Many films, novels and lessons in schools and at universities focus on this camp too. However, there were other camps, much less well known, such as Sobibór which was exclusively an extermination camp and operated from 16 May 1942 to 17 October 1943. Up to 250,000 Jews were killed in this camp. On 14 October 1943, a revolt by approximately 600 prisoners was made in an attempt to escape. Shortly after this the camp was closed.


    In this meticulously researched, and very well written monograph, Chris Webb tells the grim story of this camp, which was part of the deadliest phase of the Holocaust in German-occupied Poland during 1942–43. This work also includes the unique Jewish Roll of Remembrance. Other previously published books on the Sobibór death camp have brief biographies of the survivors, but to my knowledge, none of these record the victims in the way that is presented here.


    It is a book that is not only important for scholars, but also to teachers and lecturers of the Holocaust and this completes the trilogy of books written by Chris Webb on the three Aktion Reinhardt camps in Poland, Bełźec, Sobibór and Treblinka.


    Professor Frank McDonough


    Liverpool John Moores University


    July 2016

  


  


  
    Author’s Introduction
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    Chris Webb – HMD Northampton University 2010

    Photograph: Claire Feldman)


    The Sobibór Death Camp was the second extermination camp built by the Nazis, in order to carry out the mass murder of Polish Jewry, as part of the Aktion Reinhardt programme headed by Odilo Globocnik, the SS and Police Leader of Lublin. On October 13, 1941 Heinrich Himmler Reichsführer-SS met with Globocnik and Friedrich-Wilhelm Krüger, Higher SS and Police Leader East at the Führer‘s Headquarters in Rastenburg, and Himmler ordered Globocnik to commence the murder programme.


    Following the construction of the extermination camp at Bełźec, in south-eastern Poland during November 1941–March 1942, the Nazis planned a second extermination camp at Sobibór, and the third and most deadly camp was built near the remote village of Treblinka. Sobibór was similar to the first camp in Bełźec in design, although in Sobibór most of the living quarters for the SS were contained within the camp itself, unlike at Bełźec where the SS living quarters were located outside the camp. Sobibór was regarded as an overflow camp of Bełźec and the Jews from the Lublin district and in time, Jews from Austria and Germany were also murdered there. Following RFSS—Heinrich Himmler’s visit in 1943, Jews from France and Holland met the same fate. This account of the Sobibór death camp is not for the faint hearted, it tells of one of the worst crimes in the history of mankind. This account ranges from the survivors and the victims, to the SS men who carried out the atrocities. One cannot fail to be moved by the personal accounts of the survivors, those that survived this man-made hell on earth, their loved ones may have perished in this factory of death, but they escaped to tell the world what happened there.


    What makes this work special is the research which has been gathered on the survivors, who by good fortune, courage and determination survived Sobibór and built new lives for themselves, new families, but every day bore the scars of this terrible place. What is particularly chilling looking through the www.Joodsemonument.nl website is the recording of the destruction of whole families, often on the same day. The mass murder was chilling and the Nazis production line of death was relentless and remorseless.


    For the victims, details of their lives have been found, and re-told to keep their memory alive, to show that they are not forgotten. In some cases we have found comprehensive information, whilst sadly for some, only scant details are known. The book covers the construction of the death camp, the physical layout of the camp, as remembered by both the Jewish inmates and the SS staff who served there, and the personal recollections that detail the day to day experiences of the prisoners and the SS. The cruel and barbaric murder process is described in great detail, as well as the confiscation of the valuables and possessions of the unfortunate Jews who crossed the threshold of this man-made hell. The courageous revolt by the prisoners on October 14, 1943 is re-told by the prisoners and the German SS, with detailed accounts of the revolt and its aftermath.


    The post-war fate of the perpetrators, or more precisely, those that were brought to trial and some information regarding the more recent history of the site itself, concludes this book. There is a large photographic section, of rare and some unpublished photographs and documents from my private archive.


    As I write this book, it is eerie that I can hear the sound of machine-gun fire from the nearby army ranges; looking out of my upstairs study window, surrounded by trees. My mind wanders; thinking of the dense forest that Sobibór lies within, and all those years ago, local people heard machine gun fire, coming from the forests that surrounded the death camp.


    This book has been written as a companion piece to the Treblinka death camp, which was co-written with Michal Chocholaty, which was published in 2014 and my book on the Bełźec death camp which was published during 2016, both by Ibidem-Verlag. They have been a fantastic publishing house to work with, and I must thank Valerie Lange for her tremendous efforts and support over the years. It has been a real pleasure working with her and her colleagues on all three books.


    The trilogy of books serve as a memorial to each individual who was murdered in these horrendous ‘factories of death’.


    Chris Webb,


    Whitehill, England – 14 October 2016
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    Part I

    The Hell Called Sobibór

  


  
    Chapter I

    ‘Aktion Reinhardt’

    (An Overview)


    Einsatz Reinhardt, or as it is better known, Aktion Reinhardt[1] was the code name for the extermination of Polish Jewry in the former Generalgouvernement and the Białystok area. The term was used in remembrance of SS-Obergruppenführer Reinhard Heydrich, the co-ordinator of the Final Solution to the Jewish Question, translated as Die Endlösung der Judenfrage, that involved the extermination of the Jews living in the European countries occupied by the German military during the Second World War. Members of the Czech underground resistance fighters, Jozef Gabčík and Jan Kubiš, ambushed Heydrich in his car on May 27, 1942, in a suburb of Prague, while en-route to his office in the capital from his home at Panenské Březany. Heydrich died from his wounds at Bulovka Hospital on June 4, 1942.[2]


    Four days after his death, approximately 1,000 Jews left Prague in a single train that was designated AaH (Attentat auf Heydrich). This transportion was officially destined for Ujazdów, in the Lublin district of Poland, though the passengers were gassed at the Bełżec death camp. The members of Odilo Globocnik’s resettlement staff henceforward dedicated the murder program to Heydrich’s memory, under the name Einsatz Reinhardt.[3]


    The Head of Aktion Reinhardt was SS-Brigadeführer Odilo Globocnik. The SS and Police Chief of the Lublin District was appointed to this position by Reichsführer-SS Heinrich Himmler. At the Führer’s Headquarters in Rastenburg (a town in present day Poland known as Kętrzyn), Heinrich Himmler, Friedrich-Wilhelm Krüger and Odilo Globocnik met on October 13, 1941, and at this meeting Globocnik was authorized to build a death camp at Bełżec. Bełżec was the first death camp built using static gas chambers, the first mass Extermination Camp in the East; Kulmhof (a town in present day Poland known as Chełmno), used gas vans to murder the Jewish victims from early December 1941.[4]


    On January 20, 1942, at a villa in Wannsee, a suburb of Berlin, Heydrich organized a conference on ‘The Final Solution to the Jewish Question’. The conference was postponed from December 8, 1941, as Heydrich wrote to one of the attendees Otto Hoffmann that it had been necessary to reschedule the conference ‘on account of events in which some of the invited gentlemen were concerned.‘[5] Those attending the Wannsee Conference included the director-generals of the relevant ministries, senior representatives of the German ruling authorities in the occupied countries, and senior members of the SS, including Heinrich Müller, Head of the Gestapo, and Adolf Eichmann, Head of Department IV B4, the Jewish Section of the Gestapo.


    *


    The man who was appointed to lead Aktion Reinhardt was Odilo Lothario Globocnik. He was born on April 21, 1904 in Trieste, the son of an Austro-Slovene family, a Construction Engineer by trade. He joined the Nazi Party in Carinthia, Austria in 1930 and after the banning of the Nazi Party in Austria in 1934, earned the reputation as one of the most radical leaders of its underground cells. In 1933, Globocnik joined the SS, which also became a prohibited organization in Austria in 1934, and was appointed Deputy Gauleiter (Deputy Party District Leader).[6]


    After serving several short terms of imprisonment, for illegal activities on behalf of the Nazis, he emerged as a key figure in the pre-annexation plans for Austria, serving as a pivotal liaison figure between Adolf Hitler and the leading pro-Nazi Austrians.[7] Globocnik’s star was in the ascendency and he was appointed to the coveted strategic position of Gauleiter of Vienna on May 24, 1938. His tenure was short-lived and on January 30, 1939 he was dismissed from this superior position for corruption, illegal speculation in foreign exchange and tax evasion—all on a grand scale.[8]


    After demotion to a lowly SS rank and undergoing basic military training with an SS-Standarte, he took part with his unit in the invasion of Poland. Eventually pardoned by Himmler, who needed such unscrupulous characters for future ‘unsavoury plans’, Globocnik was appointed to the post of SS- und Polizeiführer of Lublin on November 9, 1939. Globocnik had been chosen by the Reichsführer–SS as the central figure in the Aktion Reinhardt program, not only because of his ruthlessness, but also because of his virulent anti-Semitism.


    In Lublin, Globocnik surrounded himself with a number of his fellow Austrians, SS-Officers like Herman Julius Höfle, born in Salzburg on June 19, 1911. Höfle became Gobocnik’s Deputy in Aktion Reinhardt, responsible for the Personnel and the organization of Jewish deportations, the extermination camps and the re-utilization of the victim’s possessions and valuables. Höfle was later to play a significant role in mass deportation actions in Warsaw and Białystok. Ernst Lerch from Klagenfurt became Globocnik’s closest confidante and adjutant. Georg Michalsen from Oppeln in Silesia was another adjutant and he, too, participated with Höfle in the deportation of Jews from the ghettos in Warsaw in 1942 and Białystok in 1943. Another member of this group was Amon Göth, who cleared the Tarnów, Kraków and Zamość ghettos, and later became the notorious Commander of Płaszów Arbeitslager in Kraków, in March 1943.[9]


    The Headquarters of Aktion Reinhardt was located in the Julius Schreck[10] Kaserne at Litauer Strasse 11, close to the city centre in Lublin, and Höfle not only worked, but also lived in this building, in a small room on the second floor. Also located in Lublin, were the buildings where the Jewish belongings and valuables were stored, at Chopin Strasse, the former ‘Katholische Aktion’ and at the sorting hangers located at the Alter Flugplatz (Old Airfield) just outside Lublin.[11]


    The most infamous Member of Aktion Reinhardt was SS-Obersturmführer Christian Wirth, the first Commandant of Bełżec and later Inspector of the SS-Sonderkommandos Abteilung Reinhard. Before his transfer to Poland, Wirth had been a leading figure in ‘Aktion T4,’ the extermination of the mentally and physically disabled in psychiatric institutions in the Reich. The role of the ‘T4’ euthanasia program was fundamental to the execution of Aktion Reinhardt, the great majority of the staff in the death camps served their ‘apprenticeships’ in mass murder at the euthanasia institutes of Bernburg, Brandenburg, Grafeneck, Hadamar, Hartheim, and Pirna / Sonnenstein, where the mentally ill and disabled victims had been murdered in gas chambers. The senior Officers in both Aktion T4 and Aktion Reinhardt were all police officers with SS ranks, and with Himmler’s approval, SS-NCO’s had emptied the gas chambers and cremated the bodies of the victims. This work they carried out wearing civilian clothes. The SS authorities also supplemented the forces guarding the death camps, and the transports using former Red Army Prisoners of War, mostly Volksdeutsche (ethnic Germans) and Ukrainians who were trained at the Trawniki SS camp, and were particularly suited to this kind of activity.


    On November 1, 1941, the construction of the first Aktion Reinhardt death camp began near the village of Bełżec, 125 kilometres south-east of Lublin, and became operational in mid-March 1942. Construction of the second camp, at Sobibór, between the cities of Włodawa and Chełm on the River Bug, north-east of Lublin, came into operation at the end of April 1942. The third and last of these camps was located near the village train station of Treblinka[12], about 100 kilometres north-east of Warsaw. All three camps shared some common vital facts: they were all situated on or close to main railway lines for the speedy delivery of the victims to their deaths and they were located in sparsely populated regions. The true fate of the Jews was initially hidden from them, by the announcement that they were being ‘transported East for resettlement and work’. The Aktion Reinhardt death camps were very similar in lay out, each camp being an improvement on its predecessor, and the extermination process developed at Bełżec by Christian Wirth was implemented at the other two camps.


    On March 27, 1942, Dr. Josef Goebbels, Minister for Propaganda in the Reich, wrote the following entry in his diary about the deportations of the Jews in Lublin, which marked the commencement of Aktion Reinhardt:


    Beginning with Lublin, the Jews in the Generalgouvernement are now being evacuated Eastward. The procedure is pretty barbaric and is not to be described here more definitly. Not much will remain of the Jews. About sixty percent of them will have to be liquidated. Only about forty percent can be used for forced labor. The former Gauleiter of Vienna (Globocnik), who is to carry out this measure, is doing it with considerable circumspection and in a way that does not attact much attention.... the ghettos that will be emptied in the cities of the Generalgouvernement will now be re-filled with Jews thrown out of the Reich. The process is to be repeated from time to time. [13]


    The Personnel assigned to Aktion Reinhardt came from a number of sources, SS and policemen who served under Globocnik’s command in the Lublin district, other SS men and members of the T4 Euthanasia program.[14] Yitzhak Arad quotes in his book Bełżec, Sobibór, Treblinka that a total of 450 men were assigned to the Lublin District for police duties, and this total included 92 men from the T4 Euthanasia program,[15] as stated by Globocnik in his final statement to Himmler regarding Aktion Reinhardt in 1944. However, a total of 103 men from T4, either from the T4 headquaters or the numerous institutions, have been identified during more recent research as having served in the Aktion Reinhardt mass murder program.


    The Old Airfield (Alter Flugplatz) in Lublin was also used throughout Aktion Reinhardt as a mustering centre for personnel transferred from the euthanasia institutions in the Reich, members of the SS, and Police to staff the three death camps. They were usually met by Wirth personally, on occasions accompanied by Karl Reichleitner from Sobibór and Franz Stangl from Treblinka. According to witnesses, at these selections of personnel, all three men wore the uniforms of Schutzpolizei Officers and none of them mentioned anything about which units they were joining, or where they were to be based. At the depot the newcomers were dressed in Waffen-SS uniforms, but without SS runes on the collar patches. The male nurses among them were first sent to the SS training camp at Trawniki, near Lublin, on a two-week basic military training course.[16]


    Most of these individuals had served in the euthanasia program, and they were assisted by 90–120 Ukrainian Guards, who were trained at the Trawniki SS Training camp, and wore black uniforms. Some of the Ukrainians were given other duties, including the operation of the gas chambers. Amongst these were the infamous Ivan Demjanjuk, Feodor Federenko, Ivan Marchenko and Nikolay Shaleyev. Most of the Ukrainians were Soviet Prisoners of War, who had volunteered to serve the Germans. Some of them were of German ethnic extraction, the so-called Volksdeutsche, who were appointed Platoon or Squad Commanders, in the main.[17]


    In the course of Aktion Reinhardt approximately 1.6 million Jews lost their lives in the three camps. Jewish property to the value of RM 178, 045, 960 was stolen by the Nazis, and many individual SS, Policemen and Guards helped themselves to valuables, so the true figure will never be known.


    The Aktion Reinhardt mass murder program ended officially in November 1943 and Himmler ordered Globocnik, who was now Higher SS and Police Leader for the Adriatic coastal region in Trieste, to produce a detailed ‘Balance Sheet’ for the murder program. Globocnik did this, and Heinrich Himmler, in response, thanked Globocnik for his ‘services’ to the German people.[18]


    After they had finished their gruesome work in Poland, most of the men were sent to northern Italy to fight partisans. Many of them served in the Risiera di San Sabba police camp on the outskirts of Trieste in Italy, where Jews were murdered in gas vans, beaten or shot and their bodies cremated in ovens in the former rice mill.[19]


    The key members of Aktion Reinhardt mostly escaped justice. Globocnik and Höfle both committed suicide, whilst Wirth and Reichleitner (the second Commandant of the Sobibór death camp) were killed by partisans. Amon Göth was tried and sentenced to death for crimes committed in the Płaszów Concentration Camp in September 1946. Dr. Irmfried Eberl, the first Commandant of Treblinka, committed suicide, but Franz Stangl[20] (the first Commandant of Sobibór and second Commandant of Treblinka) and Kurt Franz (the third and final Commandant of Treblinka) were brought to trial and were both found guilty of war crimes and sentenced to life imprisonment. Gottlieb Hering the second Commandant of Bełżec death camp and later Commandant of Poniatowa Jewish Labor Camp, died on October 9, 1945 in unknown circumstances in the waiting room at the Katherinen Hospital in Stetten im Remstal, Württemberg, Germany.


    As for the members of the SS-Sonderkommandos at the three death camps, a number of major figures like Karl Frenzel from Sobibór, and Heinrich Arthur Matthes, August Miete and Willy Mentz who served at Treblinka received life sentences at trials held in West Germany during the mid-1960’s, whilst many others received prison terms of less than ten years. It is fair to say the vast majority of the SS men and Ukrainians who served within the framework of Aktion Reinhardt were never brought to justice, and in the trial of the Sobibór garrison in Hagen during 1965–66, twelve SS men faced justice. Karl Frenzel was sentenced to life imprisonment, whilst others were sentenced to terms of imprisonment for a few years, and many were acquitted. Kurt Boldender committed suicide whilst in prison and Gustav Wagner, probably the most feared of the Nazi Garrison in Sobibór fled to Brazil and he also committed suicide in October 1980.[21]

  




  
    Chapter II

    The Construction of The Sobibór Death Camp


    Sobibór is a small hamlet in a densely wooded area on the Chełm–Włodawa railway line, 8 kilometres south of Włodawa, in south-eastern Poland. The River Bug, the border between the Generalgouvernement and the Reichskommissariat Ukraine, was 5 kilometres east of Sobibór. The whole area was thickly wooded, swampy and sparsely populated.[22]


    According to the Sobibór Station Switchman, Jan Piwonski, during early 1942, SS-Hauptsturmführer Richard Thomalla from the SS Central Construction Office (SS- Zentralbauleitung) in Zamość and Baurat Moser from Chełm arrived in Sobibór. The two men took measurements and entered the forest on the other side of the tracks.[23]


    In March 1942, a new railroad spur was constructed, which ended at an earthen and sand ramp, the ramp was opposite the village station building. The ramp, which was 120 metres long and provided enough space for one locomotive and eleven wagons to be accommodated on the spur, led into the camp. The train halted at a buffer, which can still be seen to this day.


    Jan Piwonski, who worked for the Eastern Railways (Ostbahn) at Sobibór station as an assistant switch-man, recalled the shunting arrangements connected with the arrival of transports of Jews, in an interview with Claude Lanzmann in the film ‘Shoah’:


    Yes. On German orders, Polish railmen split up the trains. So the locomotive took twenty cars and headed towards Chełm. When it reached a switch, it pushed the cars into the camp on the other track we see there. Unlike Treblinka, the station here is part of the camp.[24]


    There appears to be some conflict with the number of freight cars the ramp could accommodate, was it eleven or twenty? According to a number of testimonies, the ramp at the Treblinka death camp was 200 metres long and could accommodate 20 wagons and the locomotive. Given that the ramp at Sobibór was only 120 metres long, it is more probable that only eleven freight cars and the locomotive could be accommodated at Sobibór.


    The camp fence with interwoven branches was built in a manner which ensured that the railway spur and the ramp—which were located inside the camp—, could not be seen by passengers at the station and rail passengers on the trains. The deportation trains entered the ramp on a single track through a gate and disappeared behind the “green wall.“ In the station area three large buildings existed—the station, the forester’s house, and a two-storey post office. There was also a saw-mill and several houses for workers, as well as a tall forester’s observation tower and a small Catholic chapel.


    As construction work progressed, undertaken by 80 Jews from nearby ghettos, such as Włodawa and Wola Uhruska, the site was periodically inspected by SS-Hauptsturmführer Rudolf Nauman, head of the Waffen-SS Central Construction Office in Lublin. [25]


    Jan Piwonski remembered the construction of the camp:


    The next morning the Jews had to dig holes, and the farmers from the village brought poles, which were used to make a fence. The poles were about 3 metres high. After the poles had been put in place, barbed-wire was put up around them and pine branches were woven through the wires. The Jews put up the barbed-wire, while the farmers put the pine branches in place.


    The next day a German SS soldier, who spoke very good Polish, came to the station cafeteria. He came from Poznan or Silesia.[26] When the woman behind the counter asked him what was being built there, he replied that she would find out soon enough, it was going to be ‘a good laugh.’[27]


    Another source of information regarding the construction of the death camp at Sobibór came from Z. Krawczak, who had been a prisoner in the Jewish Labor Camp at Krychów since June 1941. He escaped from Krychów and emigrated to Switzerland, where he wrote an account of his experiences during the occupation. Krawczak wrote that a few SS men, under the command of Strumph, who was formerly the Commandant of the Jewish Labor Camp in Sawin near Chełm, arrived from another Jewish Labour Camp in Osowa, some 7 kilometres west of Sobibór. They arrived with a group of 120 Jews from Chełm to construct the death camp at Sobibór.


    The building material was organized by the Deutsch Horst company and was transported from the camp in Krychów and from the railway station in Chełm. The management of these supplies came under the authority of the Water Management Inspector, Engineer Franz Holzheimer, who originated from Hannover, and was based in Chełm. The overall construction of the camp was supervised by Moser, an Architect also based in Chełm, who was at a later date transferred to the Technische Hauptamt in Kraków.[28]


    Dov Freiberg, in his book ‘To Survive Sobibór’, gave a very good description of the death camp:


    Opposite the branch of railroad tracks stood Lager I, a group of wooden country houses serving as lodgings for the Germans, the kitchen and their canteen. This site was well tended. The fronts of the houses had rows of flowers, low wooden fences and paved paths... further on stood the workshops where the Jews now worked—sewing suits and making shoes for the Germans and their wives.


    Between Lager I and Lager II the Germans had set up an animal farm, where the Jews raised pigs, fattened geese, and tended horses—all for the SS in the camp. Near the railway tracks, not far from the German lodgings and the Jewish barracks, a big barracks was built to house the Ukrainians and next to it, a smaller building—the Ukrainian kitchen. Opposite the barracks stood a small building that served as a guardhouse, where Oberscharführer Graetschus sat, in charge of the Ukrainian guards, and on the other side, towards the German lodgings, stood the weapons warehouse.


    In Lager II stood a lovely, big wooden building with a porch extending along its entire front facade. The building faced the yard where the people undressed, and in it were secretaries and the warehouse for money, gold, and valuables. The Jewish Goldsmith worked there, sorting the valuables and packing them for transport. In the same building, there was a medical storehouse as well, where the pharmacist, a Jew, sorted medicines, drugs, perfumes and cosmetics and packed them for transport.


    On the other side of the building stood barracks filled with clothing and possessions that had belonged to the people in the transports, and from there was the path to the forest, the path to Lager III.[29]


    Another detailed description of the camp was provided by Ukrainian Guard Ignat Danilchenko during an interrogation on November 21, 1979 in the city of Tyumen, Russia:


    The camp was located near a small railroad station called Sobibór, near the edge of a forest and was designed for mass killing of persons of Jewish nationality from the Soviet Union, Poland, Holland and other nations occupied by the Nazis. Jews from Germany were also killed here. The camp covered approximately four square kilometres and was surrounded by four rows of barbed wire 3 metres high. There were two entrances into the camp which were closed by wooden gates on the side of the wire barrier facing the railroad siding. One gate was designed to admit railroad trains into the camp, while the other was designed for trucks. There was a smaller gate in the second gate through which Germans and guards passed.


    A railroad platform was built in the camp, near the railroad siding, on a level with the doors on the freight cars. This was the spot where the people brought to the camp in railroad cars to be killed were unloaded. The platform was separated from the general territory of the camp by a single row of barbed wire. A passage, also surrounded by barbed wire, led from the platform to an area where the prisoners were ordered to leave their belongings. Another passage 30–40 metres long, surrounded by barbed wire, led from this spot, the people were led along this passage to so-called “dressing rooms,” where they were forced to strip naked.


    The women’s hair was also cut off here. The Germans and the guards took valuables (gold rings, earrings, watches and so on.) from the prisoners. A passage approximately 3 metres wide densely surrounded by barbed wire intertwined with twigs and branches led from the dressing rooms.


    The naked people were driven along this passage to a large stone building with what was called the “showers.” Actually, this was a gas chamber where the arriving Jews were killed in six gas chambers (250 persons in each) by exhaust gasses from diesel engines which were located near the gas chamber. I remember hearing from other guards (I cannot remember their names) that there were two such diesels, supposedly from tanks. I did not personally see these engines, and I do not know precisely where they were located in the area of the gas chamber. [30]


    Thomas Tovi Blatt who arrived in Sobibór described the main entrance:


    The only camp entrances were at the right corner of the front fence, and consisted of two gates: a main gate[31] opened onto the central road in the camp; to its right, a smaller gate opened onto the siding from the main railway line outside of the camps area. Above the main gate was a wooden sign about two feet by eight with the words ‘SS SONDERKOMMANDO’ painted in Gothic letters. [32]


    The interior of the camp was divided into a Vorlager or garrison area, and four main inner sections, so-called Lager I, Lager II, III, IV, each partitioned with barbed wire fences. The garrison area included the main entrance gate, the railway siding and ramp where the victims were unloaded from the trains. Gottes Heimat (God’s Own Home), the Commandant’s villa stood opposite the village station platform, flanked on its right by the guardhouse and on the left by the armoury. The SS staff lived in villas, known as “Lustiger Floh“ (The Merry Flea) and “Schwalbennest,“ (Swallows Nest) as well as nearby further SS quarters, garage, mess hall and other buildings. Barracks for the Ukrainian Guards were just to the north near the Commandant’s villa.[33]


    Lager I was built directly to the west and behind the garrison area, housed the Jewish working prisoners and their workshops, where some of them worked at sorting clothes, or were shoemakers, tailors, blacksmiths, and so on. There was also a carpentry workshop, a painters workshop, kitchen and latrine. A water filled trench on the western side made escape more difficult. The only entrance was a gate leading from the garrison area.[34]


    The barracks were built with material taken from the homes of Jews deported from nearby ghettos and from material delivered from SS warehouses in Chełm and Lublin. Additional barracks were constructed towards the end of September 1942. Barracks for troops and army horses were converted into quarters with three-tiered bunks for the prisoners. Each prisoner had twelve square feet of sleeping space. Women and men lived in seperate barracks; the exception were three Jewish women who were cleaners in the SS quarters who had a room there. Lager II was the so-called reception area. On arrival, the Jews were driven inside this area. This area included the undressing barracks of the victims and the barracks where their clothes and belongings were sorted and stored. The former forester’s house, located in Lager II, was used for camp administration and living quarters for some of the SS men. A high wooden fence, which prevented observation, separated the main part of the forester’s house from the area where the victims passed.


    At the north-east corner of this fence began the ‘Tube.’ The so-called ‘Tube’, which connected Lager II with Lager III, the extermination area, was a narrow passageway, about three to four metres wide and 150 metres long. It was closed on both sides by barbed wire interwoven with tree branches. Through here the victims were driven into the gas chambers located at the end of the ‘Tube.’ Close to the entrance of the ‘Tube’ was a stable, a pigpen, and a poultry coop. Halfway through the ‘Tube’ was the “barber shop“, where the hair of Jewish women was cut off before they entered the gas chambers.[35] In addition in Lager II there was a pre-war Catholic chapel which served as the camps Lazarett. This was not a field hospital, but a place where those who were disabled, infirm or small children, met a brutal death by shooting at the hands of Paul Bredow, and his Ukrainian murder squad, until he was transferred to Treblinka death camp, in the spring of 1943. On a stretch of land between Lager II and Lager III there was a landing strip for small aircraft.[36]


    Lager III, the so-called extermination area, was on the northwest side of the camp. It included the gas chambers building, including an engine room, burial pits, a barrack for the Jewish prisoners employed there, and a kitchen and dentist workshop. The original gas chambers consisting of three chambers were partially dismantled in the autumn of 1942 and three additional gas chambers were built.[37]


    By the end of May 1942, the Nazis constructed a narrow-gauge railroad from a nearby saw-mill and brought in a small diesel locomotive and six small tip-up wagons. The railroad ran from the unloading ramp, past the sorting area where luggage was dropped off, into Lager III past the gas chambers to the burial pits. [38]


    Once the 80 Jews had completed the initial construction tasks, they were shot and killed by their Ukrainian guards who had been sent from the Trawniki SS Training camp, which was located approxmately 23 miles from Lublin, to guard them. [39]


    During the final stages of the initial construction, the SS carried out a number of trial gassings, which will be covered in more detail in the later chapter on the gas chambers, the trials were successful, and thus the camp was ready to play its bloody part in the Aktion Reinhardt mass murder program.


    Sobibór was constantly expanding throughout its history, as the camp took on transports from Western Europe. In addition there was the creation of the so-called Nordlager—North Camp, to handle captured Soviet ammunition. This camp area was rectangular in shape, some 600 metres by 400 metres.[40]

  




  
    Chapter III

    The Original Gas Chambers and Camp III


    Because no Jewish prisoner from Camp (Lager) III is known to have survived the revolt, nor escaped from the camp at other times, the eyewitness descriptions of the gas chambers and Lager III at Sobibór rely completely on the testimony of the SS camp staff. Stanislaw Szmajzner received a description from his friend Abraham, who worked in Lager III, and this is included in this chapter, to at least contribute to our understanding of this secret part of the camp. The first gas chambers at Sobibór were based on the same specifications as the original gas chambers in the Belżec death camp, and were described by Erich Bauer on his arrival at the death camp:


    When we arrived, Lager III had not been completely fenced off yet, certainly not on the right-hand side, and I am not sure whether any fence had been put up through the woods. The gas chamber was already there, a wooden building on a concrete base, about the same size as this courtroom though much lower, as low as a normal house. There were two or three chambers, in front of which there was a corridor that, from the outside, you accessed via a bridge. The doors were indeed wooden; they were changed later, when the gas chamber was completely rebuilt. The airtight doors arrived only later, I collected them myself from Warsaw, but that was not until the new building went up. [41]


    Bauer continued his account:


    When the first transport that I was involved with arrived, I was already stationed in Lager III, along with Fuchs and Askaris (Ukrainian volunteers). The Jews were separated by gender; the women had to undress first and were led through the Schlauch (Tube) into Lager III and the gas chambers. I took the transport from Lager II through the Tube to the back of the chambers and opened the doors.


    The Askaris and the Jewish labor commando of Lager III then pushed the Jews into the chambers and closed the doors once they were full. Then either Vallaster or Getzinger or Hödl and the Hiwis (sometimes Bodessa, also someone by the name of Iwan, called “The Terrible”) would start the engine in the engine room. The pipe connecting the engine to the gas chamber was already in place. Fuchs left the fitting of the peg (open exhaust) until later.


    In my opinion it was a petrol engine, a big engine, I think a Renault. At a later stage the engine was started earlier on, but to begin with not until the people were already in the chamber, because the Freiauspuff (open exhaust) option was not available at first. It always took two men to start the engine, the battery alone was not sufficient. Fuchs had built a special contraption. There was an old magnet. One man turned the crank which started up the engine. The flywheel had some sort of crowbar, which was used to start it, while at the same time someone else had to operate the magnetic ignition; that is why two men were required to start it. I cannot exactly remember where the petrol supply tank was situated; I think it was on the wall. I am not sure how the gas was regulated. I think it was somehow fixed in position with a screw. I think it was similar to the way the gas handle was positioned in motor vehicles. It was not necessary for one person constantly to press down on the lever to keep the engine running.


    The chambers were permanently connected to the engine; the way it worked was that if a wooden plug was pulled out, the fumes went outside; if the plug was pushed into the pipe, the fumes went into the chamber. The gassing took about half an hour. I assume that about 50 to 60 people went into each chamber, but I am not sure of the exact number. Jewish laborers supervised by the Germans took the bodies out. The supervision was carried out mainly by Vallaster, who was later killed in the uprising, right at the start; he was a very good friend of mine.


    It is quite amazing how oblivious the Jews were that they were going to die. There was hardly ever any resistance. The Jews became suspicious only after they had already entered the gas chamber. But at that point there was no way back. The chambers were packed. There was a lack of oxygen. The doors were sealed airtight and the gassing procedure was started immediately. After about twenty to thirty minutes there was complete silence in the chamber; the people had been gassed and were dead.


    I remember quite clearly that a camouflage net had been draped over the gas chamber. I collected this net myself from the ammunition warehouse in Warsaw. It was thrown over the top of the roof and fixed on to it. When this was, I can no longer say. To start with, we had fir and pine trees covering the roof. In front of the Lager we had also planted some fir trees. That was at the time when German aviation units were flying to Russia. The German pilots were not to be able to see inside. The camouflage net was torn off the roof when the gas chamber was rebuilt. The camouflage net was acquired when the old wooden barracks were still in use, because such a lot of steam was generated.[42]


    Franz Stangl recalled the first time he saw the gas chamber building in Sobibór during his interview with Gitta Sereny in 1971, accompanied by his former associate Hermann Michel, whom Stangl had first met in Hartheim:


    When we had been there about three days I think, Michel came running one day and said he had found a funny building back in the woods. ‘I think there is something fishy going on here,’ he said. ‘Come and see what it reminds you of.’


    It was about ten or fifteen minutes’ walk away from the railway station where we were building the new camp. It was a new brick building with three rooms, three metres by four. The moment I saw it I knew what Michel meant: it looked exactly like the gas chamber at Schloss Hartheim. [43]


    SS-Unterscharführer, Erich Fuchs, who had served in the Bełżec extermination camp, recalled the first trial gassing at Sobibór:


    Sometime in the spring of 1942, I drove a truck to Lemberg (today Lwow) on Wirth’s orders and picked up a gassing engine, which I took to Sobibór. Upon my arrival at Sobibór, I found near the station, an area with a concrete structure and several permanent houses. The Special Commando there was led by Thomalla. Other SS men present included Floss, Bauer, Stangl, Friedl, Schwarz, and Barbl. We unloaded the engine. It was a heavy Russian petrol engine (presumably an armoured vehicle or traction engine), at least 200 HP (V-engine, 8 cylinder, water-cooled).


    We installed the engine on a concrete base and connected the exhaust to the pipeline. Then I tried the engine. It hardly worked. I repaired the ignition and the valves, and finally got the engine to start. The chemist, whom I already knew from Belżec, went inside the gas chamber with a measuring device to gauge the gas concentration. After that, a trial gassing was carried out. If my memory serves me right, I think 30 to 40 women were gassed. The Jewish women had to undress in a clearing in the woods near the gas chamber and they were then herded into the gas chamber by the aforementioned SS men and Ukrainian Hilfswilligen.


    Once the women were inside, I operated the engine with Bauer. At first the engine was in neutral. We both stood by the engine and switched the dial to Freiauspuff auf Zelle (open exhaust to chamber), so releasing the gas into the chamber. As directed by the chemist, I adjusted the engine to a set RPM, making any further accelerating unnecessary. After about ten minutes the 30 to 40 women were dead. The Chemist and the SS-Führer gave the signal to shut down the engine. I packed up my tools and saw how the bodies were taken away. They were transported by means of a Lorenbahn (narrow gauge railway) leading from the gas chamber to an area farther away. [44]


    Franz Stangl also recalled another trial gassing conducted by Christian Wirth:


    And then one afternoon, Wirth’s adjutant, Oberhauser, came to get me. I was to come to the gas chamber. When I got there, Wirth stood in front of the building wiping the sweat off his cap and fuming. Michel told me later that he had suddenly appeared, looked around the gas chambers on which they were still working and said, ‘Right, we will try it out right now with those twenty-five work-Jews: get them up here.’ They marched our twenty-five Jews up there and just pushed them in, and gassed them. Michel said Wirth behaved like a lunatic, hit out at his own staff with his whip to drive them on. And then he was livid because the doors had not worked properly. Oh, he just screamed and raved and said the doors had to be changed. After that he left. [45]


    Stanislaw Szmajzner received a description from his friend Abraham, in secret, who worked in Lager III and this is included for its unique account:


    When the thousands of Jews pass through the gate you mentioned, they go down a long corridor and enter Lager II. There they are stripped of their last belongings, and made to stand there naked, until they are led into a large shack where they are allegedly going to have a bath. Hundreds of people enter that shack at a time.


    When the shack is completely full, the door is locked and hermetically sealed. Then a large diesel motor is set to work, and its exhaust pipe is passed through a hole in the wall, so that the gases of combustion are blown inside, until everyone is asphyxiated.


    Before this operation, giant ditches are dug. After the mass extermination, we, the survivors of the same transport you came in, begin to pick up the bodies and throw them into the ditches. Not seldom, the ground has shaken under the weight of that human mass to be buried. Then, the monsters came and shot them, to make sure they were dead.


    I am telling you all this because, should you ever escape, you will be able to tell the world everything that happened here, because you must not expect to ever see me again. Whoever comes to Lager III will never leave it. This place is the end for each and every Jew in the power of the Nazis.


    I cannot describe all the scenes because you would never believe what happens in this horrible place. All of it is thoroughly inconceivable to the human mind. I wish you could see how the sadists like Bolender, Gomerski and one called ‘Red Cake‘ acted. While the slaughter was in progress, these monsters were delirious with happiness, as if they were at the opera. They seemed to take delight in looking at so many dead bodies naked and inert. [46]


    Moshe Szklarek, who worked as a Putzer in the German canteen, recalled an incident involving Erich Bauer :


    Bauer told his comrades of an incident in which a naked woman in one of the gas chambers asked an SS-man who was about to close the door: “What’s that officer doing at the skylight window? How can we wash ourselves when he is peeking in?“


    Bauer and his cohorts erupted in laughter. The engine was started by SS-Oberscharführer Erich Bauer and a Ukrainian Emil Kostenkow. Soon a horrible mass screaming could be heard over the rumble of the engine muffled by the thick walls of the chamber. At first it was very loud and terror-filled; after 20–30 minutes the people were gassed and dead.[47]


    Hans-Heinz Schütt described how the victims reacted and how the process was supervised by the camp staff:


    Getting the detainees into the gas chambers did not always proceed smoothly. The detainees would shout and weep and they often refused to get inside. The guards helped them on by violence. These guards were Ukrainian volunteers who were under the authority of members of the SS Kommando.


    Members of the SS held key positions in the camp, i.e. one SS man oversaw the unloading, a further SS man led the detainees into the reception camp, a further SS man was resposible for leading the detainees to the undressing area, a further SS man oversaw the confiscation of valuables and a further member of the Kommando had to drive the detainees into the so-called Tube, which led to the extermination camp. Once they were inside the so-called Tube, which led from the hut to the extermination camp, there was no longer any escape. [48]


    Kurt Bolender testified about conditions in Lager III:


    The first grave had been covered with a layer of sand. As this grave was completely full, the other bodies had to be taken elsewhere, even though the new grave was not yet ready. I still clearly remember arriving for work at the second grave one morning, to find that the bodies which had already been piled up along one side had decomposed to such an extent that in the sweltering heat, blood and body fluids had run all along the bottom of the unfinished grave.


    It was clear that we could not continue working under such circumstances. I remember giving directions to build a kind of bank, about 30 cm high perhaps, right across the bottom of the grave. Ittner was there as well. I spoke to him about it. In this context I can also give an impression of the extent of deterioration of the bodies in the first grave. The layer of sand covering the grave cracked and rose up to the point where some of the bloated bodies were being pushed up to the surface, rolling out sideways. So I had the Arbeitsjuden build a proper sand bank all around the grave. The sight of it all was intolerable, and the stench also unbearable. [49]


    Another facility of murder was the so-called Lazarett (Military Hospital). Those Jews who were disabled or elderly and unable to proceed to the gas chambers were taken from the ramp, along a pot-holed track in a horse-drawn cart for about 200 metres up to a mass grave near an abandoned chapel, which was built in 1926. Kurt Bolender recalled the process:


    Upon reflection I can now say that in the extermination camp Sobibór, handicapped or sick Jews who arrived at the camp were taken by horse-drawn cart—it was one of those twin-axled hay carts, like the ones used on the land—and transported from the siding to the wooded area of what was later to become Lager IV. In this wooded area of the camp there was also a grave. I did not see it; I know about it only from. The pit was not visible from Lager III. Whenever the transports arrived, shots were fired in that part of the camp. I heard those shots.[50]


    During May 1942, the camp authorities ordered the construction of a narrow gauge railroad: this facilty served to transport the disabled and sick Jews from the ramp to Lager III, in a speedy and efficient manner as part of the murder process. Hubert Gomerski testified as follows:


    I remember the narrow gauge rail track was built quite quickly. That is to say that it was already in use by the end of May, or at the latest by the beginning of June 1942. I remember this clearly because I was involved in the construction. Some of the trucks and rails were made at the sawmill next to camp Sobibór. The other trucks and rails were delivered by train from Trawniki. The engine for the narrow gauge railway arrived about two months after the track first became operational.


    The rail track was approximately 80 cm wide. It led away from the unloading platform, which was about 20 metres away from the railway station but already inside the camp, and into Lager III towards the excavated pits. There was also another track that led from the gas chambers to the pits.


    As I have already stated, the narrow gauge rail track was designed to take the sick, the handicapped and children from the incoming transports to Lager III. I am aware that these people, i.e. the sick, the handicapped and children—babies in particular—were transported to the Lazarett and were shot by workers from Lager III.


    I never witnessed any of these executions myself. It was general knowledge that the sick were being umgelegt (laid down) in Lager III. The Ukrainians did it, they had been specially assigned to do it. They all had automatic weapons and one magazine of 12 shots each. They were not under command of any specific German[51]; they worked as a team, shooting the people who had been sent via the rail track.[52]


    Hubert Gomerski also testified after the war about the arrangements in Lager III:


    There was a Jewish commando in Lager III, they slept there. How many times this commando was gassed I do not know. It was changed from time to time, i.e. killed and replaced by other people. I do not think that people knew what exactly was going on in Lager III.


    In Lager III there was a permanent watch. When the Germans went off duty, the Ukrainians were left to guard the posts by themselves. In the tower there were always two men, each wth an ‘SMG’ (heavy machine-gun). At night an electric light shone from the tower. The electricity came from Lager I; there was no generator in Lager III. The light was always switched on.


    At night there were also ground patrols in Lager III; the camp was surrounded by two barbed wire fences, with a path in between; the guards patrolled along this path day and night. At the front of Lager III there was a single gate, which was guarded day and night. The guards went up and down the path, usually there were three. In the tower there were two others. Every day new passwords were given out. The Arbeitsjuden were able to sleep at night. I do not know of any night-time gassings. In the gas chamber there was a light, which was powered by the engine.[53]


    Leon Feldhendler wrote about the disposal of the corpses:


    In the first period, there was no crematorium. After gassing, the people were laid into the graves. Then out of the soil, blood and a bad odour of gas began to surface; terrible smells spread over the whole camp, penetrating everything. The water in Sobibór became rancid. This forced the Germans to build a crematorium. It was a large pit with a roaster above it. The bodies were thrown on the roaster. The fire was ignited from beneath, and petrol was poured on the corpses. The bones were crushed into ashes with hammers.[54]


    The vast majority of the Jews murdered at Sobibór perished in the gas chambers and whilst the precise number will never be known, contemporary research indicates that circa 250, 000 innocent Jewish men, women and children are thought to have been murdered at Sobibór death camp. Erich Bauer, the so-called ‘Gasmeister‘ stated:


    I estimate that the number of Jews gassed at Sobibór was about 350,000. In the canteen at Sobibór, I once overheard a conversation between Frenzel, Stangl and Wagner. They were discussing the number of victims in the extermination camps of Belżec, Treblinka and Sobibór and expressed their regret that Sobibór ‘came last‘ in the competition. [55]

  




  
    Chapter IV

    Mass Murder Begins

    (April–August 1942)


    While the basic installations were being made ready to exterminate the Jews, the organization of the SS and Ukrainians was also taking shape. Franz Paul Stangl, an Austrian Police Officer with experience in the T4 Euthanasia Program (the name derives from the location of the address: Tiergartenstrasse 4, Berlin), was appointed by Globocnik to become the Commandant of Sobibór. Stangl recalled how he was recruited into Aktion Reinhardt during the spring of 1942, in Lublin. He gave this unique insight in a series of interviews with Gitta Sereny, which was published in her book under the title “Into That Darkness.”


    “I came upon Globocnik sitting by himself on a bench about ten metres away from—and with his back to—the building. There was a lovely view across lawns and trees to buildings far away...... It had been decided, he told me, to open a number of supply camps from which the troops at the Front could be re-equipped. He said that he intended confiding to me the construction of a camp called Sobibór. He called an adjutant—who must have lurked somewhere nearby—and told him to bring the plans.


    The plans arrived and he spread them out on the bench between us and on the ground in front of us. They showed a design for a camp: barracks, railway tracks, fences, gates. Some of the buildings—unkers they were—were crossed out with red ink. ‘Do not worry about those’ he said, ‘concentrate on getting the rest done first. It has been started but they’ve got Poles working there. It’s going so slowly they must be asleep. What the place needs is someone to organize it properly and I think you are the man to do it.’ And then he said he would arrange for me to leave for Sobibór the next day—that was all.” [56]


    A large number of SS men who had served in the T4 Euthanasia Program, arrived in Sobibór in April 1942, amongst them Erich Bauer (T4 Berlin), Rudolf Beckmann (Grafeneck, Hadamar) Kurt Bolender (Sonnenstein/ Pirna, Brandenburg, Hartheim and Hadamar), Karl Frenzel (Grafeneck, Bernburg, Hadamar), Hubert Gomerski (Hadamar), Ferdinand Gromer (Hartheim), Paul Groth (Hartheim), Hermann Michel (Grafeneck, Hartheim), Josef Vallaster (Hartheim), and Gustav Wagner (Hartheim). [57]


    Bruno Weiss was the initial Commandant of Lager I and also Leader of the group that received the transports, the Bahnhofkommando, but he was replaced by Karl Frenzel. Rudolf Beckmann was in charge of the sorting Commando in Lager II, the horse stables and the administration in the Forsthaus.[58]


    Kurt Bolender served as the Commandant of Lager III from April 1942 until the autumn of the same year when he was replaced by Erich Bauer, the so-called Gasmeister. Alfred Ittner was in charge of the camp administration, although he was later transferred to Lager III. [59]


    The Ukrainian Guard Unit in Sobibór was organized into three platoons. They came from the SS Training Camp at Trawniki. Erich Lachmann, a former Policeman accompanied them from Trawniki to Sobibór. He was replaced by Kurt Bolender in the autumn of 1942.[60]


    On April 7, 1942, the Nazis gathered approximately 2,000 Jews in Rejowiec, in the Chełm district and drove them to the railway station. Many elderly and small children were killed on the way, but the remainder were herded into cattle cars and deported to the Sobibór death camp, arguably the first transport to the death camp in the forest.[61]


    When the deportation trains stopped at the station of Sobibór, no more than eleven freight cars were shunted into the camp. When the large transports arrived the convoy was split into two or three parts. The escort guards and railway workers remained outside the camp, and only a specially trusted team of German railway workers drove the train inside the camp. The trains stopped along the ramp, and the cars were opened by the Ukrainians. The Jews were ordered to disembark and were driven into Lager II, the so-called Reception Area.[62]


    Jan Piwonski recalls one of the early transports to Sobibór:


    Near the end of March 1942, sizable groups of Jews were herded here, groups of fifty to one hundred people. Several trains arrived with sections of barracks, with posts, barb-wire, bricks, and construction of the camp as such began. The Jews unloaded these cars and carted the sections of barracks to the camp. The Germans made them work extremely fast. Seeing the pace they worked at—it was extremely brutal—and seeing the complex being built, and the fence, which, after all enclosed a vast space, we realized that what the Germans were building was not meant to aid mankind.


    Early in June[63] the first convoy arrived. I would say there were over forty cars. With the convoy were SS men in black uniforms. It happened one afternoon. I had just finished work. But I got on my bicycle and went home.


    I merely thought these people had come to build the camp, as the others had before them. That convoy—there was no way of knowing that it was the first earmarked for extermination,—and besides, one could not have known that Sobibór would be used for the mass extermination of the Jewish people.


    The next morning when I came here to work, the station was absolutely silent, and we realized, after talking with the other railway men who worked at the station here, that something utterly incomprehensible had happened. First of all, when the camp was being built, there were orders shouted in German, there were screams, Jews were working at a run, there were shots, and here there was that silence, no work crews, a really total silence. Forty cars had arrived and then nothing. It was all very strange. It was a silence.... a standstill in the camp. You heard and saw nothing, nothing moved. So then they began to wonder, ‘where have they put those Jews?’ [64]


    Dov Freiberg was deported from Turobin on May 15, 1942, and he described his arrival at Sobibór:


    The appearance of the camp was like an ordinary farm, except for the barbed-wire fences that surrounded it and some barracks. Actually, it was a farm, with all its buildings, in the midst of a beautiful green forest. It seems the camp was erected in a hurry and had few basic installations. I mean Lager I and Lager II reception and administration area; about Lager III extermination area—we did not yet know of its existence. But the area was big. [65]


    Germans and Ukrainians opened our freight cars and expelled us. It was May 15, 1942. We were taken through a gate into a square surrounded by barbed wire. We were separated there, men on the one side, women and children on the other. After a short period, the women and children were taken away by SS men. Where they were taken to, we did not know, but we could hear screams and laughter of the SS men when they undressed.


    Afterwards we heard a mixture of noises, a running engine, the playing of an orchestra. We were kept overnight. It was terrible. The Ukrainians hit us and did not allow us to go to the toilet. We had to relieve ourselves sitting on the spot. They told us that nothing bad would happen to us and that the women had already been sent to work.


    In the morning some SS men appeared and selected skilled workers. Then they pointed out some young and strong men. I was among them. We were about thirty men. We had to put the clothes and parcels in order.[66]


    SS-Oberscharführer, Kurt Bolender testified how the extermination process worked:


    Before the Jews undressed, Oberscharführer, Hermann Michel, Deputy Commander of the camp made a speech to them. On these occasions, he used to wear a white coat to give the impression that he was a physician. Michel announced to the Jews that they would be sent to work. But before this they would have to take baths and undergo disinfection so as to prevent the spread of diseases.


    After undressing, the Jews were taken through the so-called Schlauch. They were led to the gas chambers not by the Germans but by Ukrainians. After the Jews entered the gas chambers, the Ukrainians closed the doors. The motor which supplied the gas was switched on by a Ukrainian called Emil Kostenkow and by a German driver called Erich Bauer from Berlin. After the gassing, the doors were opened, and the corpses were removed by a group of Jewish workers.[67]


    After the first few weeks, during which the undressing took place on the open square of Lager II, a barrack for this purpose was erected. Inside this barrack were signs indicating the direction of the “cashier“ and the “baths.“ At the “cashier“ the Jews were ordered to surrender their money and valuables. In the Forsthaus was a room which overlooked the path where the naked people had to pass on the way to the Schlauch (Tube) and the gas chambers, and the victims handed over their money and valuables through the window of this room. The cashier was SS-Oberscharführer Alfred Ittner who was the accountant of the camp. Later he was replaced by SS-Scharführer Hans Schütt and SS-Scharführer Erich Herbert Floss.[68]


    A limited number of skilled workers, among them carpenters, tailors, shoemakers and a few dozen strong men and women were selected from some of the transports. It was their duty to carry out the physical work. Every day some of them were shot and their ranks were filled by arrivals from new transports. Some of the Jews selected to work were taken to Lager III, where they were ordered to remove the bodies of those murdered in the gas chambers and bury them. Others were employed in Lager II engaged in the collecting and sorting out of clothes and personal belongings of the victims, which were sent to the Alter Flugplatz (Old Airfield) Camp in Lublin, for disinfection and distribution throughout the Reich.[69]


    The 200–300 Jewish prisoners who were incarcerated in Lager III who removed the bodies from the gas chambers and buried them, had no contact with the other Jewish prisoners in other parts of the camp. Their food was cooked in Lager I and taken by Jewish prisoners to the gate of Lager III. [70]


    The first stage of killing operations in Sobibór lasted from April until the end of July 1942. During this time, Jews were sent there from ghettos in the Lublin district, approximately 57,000 from Pulawy, Zamość, Krasnystaw, Chełm and other places.


    Stanislaw Szmajzner was born on March 13, 1927 in Pulawy, Poland; He was deported from Opole on May 12, 1942 with the rest of his family. He described their arrival:


    It was late afternoon when we noticed that the noise made by the train wheels on the rails had slowly lessened its speed. Next, we heard the squeak of metal caused by the brakes and the train stopped. We soon noticed they were manoeuvring the engine and suddenly the wagons started to be pushed instead of pulled. A few seconds later, we stopped again. We were all silent, since we were worried at the continuous comings and goings of the engine. We felt that it was finally separated from the rest of the convoy and was going fast away from the place we thought should be a railroad yard. Some more minutes went by while we waited for the result of all of the fluster. We were all filled with intense anxiety and only whispers were heard, broken at times by the cry of a child, immediately silenced by its mother. All of a sudden, the door was opened.


    All the other wagons were opened at the same time and we saw dozens of SS soldiers, whom we already knew very well, waiting for us along the whole long convoy. Scattered among them were approximately as many soldiers. They wore special uniforms of which the most remarkable element was a black cap with a skull emblem right in front. They carried wooden truncheons, whips and their guns were in their hands. Their uniform was different from that of the Germans and it was forest-green in colour. They had been recruited in Ukraine, among who were those of German descent and many of them spoke German. We immediately heard violent shouts and curses, followed by an incisive command—“Outside quickly!”


    The horror of the arrival in hell continued:


    This was the reception the bandits gave us making the hopes of the most optimistic turn to pessimism which was already latent. The Ukrainians and their German masters, using the whips in an indiscriminate way, instigated the immense human cargo to make us leave the crowded wagons hurriedly and violently. We hardly had time to breathe and we were forced to hurl ourselves disorderly out, like an excited herd. We stepped on each other and pressed against one another, walking over the bodies that hampered our way and slipping on the foul slippery paste that covered the whole floor of the freight car.


    As soon as the wagons were emptied we were impelled towards a long corridor flanked by two fences made of barbed wire. There were guards all around us, urging us to walk as fast as possible, in spite of the state we were in. At the end of that passage there was an arrogant Nazi Officer accompanied by two Ukrainian soldiers holding their truncheons. This corridor was the stage of an unforgettable scene for the sophisticated cruelty which was practised there.


    Then the separation of the men from the women and children began:


    The three criminals stood at the end of the corridor, positioned so as to form a triangle, with the higher- ranking Officer a little behind the two guards who stood on either side of him. Both of them had a menacing posture, with their fearful truncheons and their vicious faces. Meanwhile, the mass of Jews were coming by fits and starts, and, when they came within reach of the morons they were violently separated—the men to the right and the women to the left, with the beastlike sectarians fiercely wielding their cudgels and hitting everyone pitilessly.


    The picture we saw was very painful, with whole families being separated: mothers were separated from children and husbands in tears; young people were driven away from their parents and siblings. As we were being separated according to our sex, we were thrown into a larger yard, located at the end of the corridor. This area could not hold us all and we had to be pushed and pressed to one another until it became totally saturated with people, because about two thousand of us had come in our transport.


    The cursed SS were waiting for us at the entrance to the yard, which looked like a football field. They did not intend to waste any time, since they immediately aligned the women into four rows and made them start walking towards a gate, behind which lay the unknown.


    Stanislaw then described what happened next:


    As soon as they had disappeared behind the gate, which was noisily shut, the Nazis focused their attention on the men. They put us also in rows of four and we waited for the command to march. This did not come immediately though and we had to stand where we were. I had been close to my brother, to my nephew and to my cousin Nojech.


    With all the men already in formation, there suddenly appeared a giant German Officer, with a disdainful look in his eyes and whom I thought to be the leader there. Actually roaring he started to select us according to our aptitudes, thus the farmers were selected first; then, the physically stronger, as well as those who seemed to be most able to resist. Next, the carpenters, the mechanics, the tailors, and then other professionals, until all of us had been sub-divided into diverse groups according to the most useful professions.


    As no goldsmiths were called I was very surprised and daringly left the files of those who had not been called and addressed the Officer. I tried to be very courteous and clever and told him I was a Goldsmith and that my profession had not been included on the list they had called. As soon as I finished talking I took off my back the small tool bag I always carried and showed him its contents, as well as a monogram I had engraved on my own money wallet.
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